Trumbull County Covered Bridge, Newton Falls, Ohio

The Trumbull County Covered Bridge, located in downtown Newton Falls, is the only covered bridge remaining in Ohio. It has the distinction of being the only surviving covered bridge in Ohio with an original covered sidewalk making it a well-known historical landmark. 

The bridge is located in Newton Falls on Arlington St over East Branch Mahoning River off Ohio Rt 534 (East Broad St). The 117 feet bridge was built in 1831. 
Mahoning Riverfest 2002

The Mahoning River Fest is a family and community event held each September in Warren, Ohio, near the banks of the Mahoning River. It is organized by the local watershed restoration group, The Mahoning River Consortium. The Festival's goal is to help the community develop a new respect for a river, which in recent history has gone through many adverse changes in this economically developing region.

 In order to achieve a new outlook and respect for the Mahoning, volunteer organizers strive to spotlight all the best our river can offer the community.  Among the free events are interpretive nature walks, aquatic life observation, historical tours, live music performing by local talent, food and drink produced by local farms, crafts, educational and interactive displays, and the festival's most popular attraction-- canoeing and kayaking.  As you can see, River Fest is a blend of appreciation of Art, History, and Nature! 

By realizing that many of the festival's activities are best appreciated on a clean and healthy waterway, those who walk away from the event do so with a new impression and respect for the Mahoning River.  Spectators witness what the river should be, and what it could be throughout the watershed, even in parts heavily abused in the past.

There is much confidence among festival organizers that communities who share the Mahoning River's banks will unite to support MRC's efforts to remove contaminated sediments from portions of the river resulting  from steel manufacturing processes in the Mahoning Valley many years ago.  This is a cornerstone goal and ongoing project of the MRC.   

Come to River Fest! You will have fun and learn why a clean river is the main ingredient to economic, environmental and community quality of life in the Mahoning Valley! 

Below are some photographs that capture the essence of the 2002 River Fest, held September 28.  Click on a small image to open a larger one.   If you wish to open the image in a separate browser window, do this:  PC users-- right click and select "Open Link in New Window"; Macintosh users-- click, hold it down, and the new window will appear.
The Octagon House is an eight sided structure built in the mid-1800's which has earned part of it's reputation by being the boyhood home of famed attorney Clarence Darrow. The structure has eight trapezoid-shaped rooms and is one of four like it in northeast Ohio.  

Clarence Darrow, who played a major role in the historic "Scopes Money Trial" that debated the teaching of Darwin's Theory of Evolution in public schools, lived in the home for 14 years.

Trumbull County Carnegie Law Library, 120 High Street, NW

The library site has a unique history related to education and law which spans nearly two centuries. About 1820, Ephriam Quinby, Warren's founder, sold the property to the trustees of the Warren Academy, which was founded to prepare students for higher education.  

Among its graduates were future lawyers who attained Ohio's front rank. Milton Sutliff, one of four brothers who entered the legal profession, acquired the "old academy lot" after pursuing a brilliant political and judicial career. A noted abolitionist, Milton Sutliff was elected as judge of the Ohio Supreme Court in 1857 and served one year as Chief Justice. He maintained an active legal practice until his death in 1878. 

Under the terms of his estate, the property, valued at $10,000, was donated to the city in 1900. By 1903, planning for the site focused on the building of a new public library and the relocation of the library from the courthouse. The assistance of Andrew Carnegie was solicited in this endeavor and his approval was received in 1904. 

The library was designed by Edward L. Tilton of New York, architect for Carnegie. All the contracts were let to local men. The general contractors were Smith & Hafer. Sutherland and Watson did the stone work; Ben Bullus, the masonry construction. George Angstadt secured the plumbing, heating, and gas-fitting contract. Henry Harwood was the local supervising architect on the project. Construction began on Labor Day, 1904. 

The building is constructed of pressed red brick and Indiana limestone. Massive stone columns with carved Ionic capitals and bases flank the front entrance. In the building's dome is a window of stained leaded glass. The lobby and delivery desk were located under this skylight. 

The Library was finished in red oak with a natural finish while the basement lecture room, honoring Judge Sutliff was done in selected cypress. Hardwood floors were finished in oil. 

The reference room was located to the right of the entrance and the children's room was to the left. The book stacks were to the rear and in the alcoves. The library was completely lighted by electricity and all the bulbs were donated by Warren's several lamp manufacturers. 

The total cost of the building and furnishings was $28,383, provided by Andrew Carnegie's gift. 

The Warren Public Library was opened and officially dedicated on February 3, 1906. This event was held in Sutliff Hall, which was decorated with flags, palms and flowers. 

In 1926, James Ward Packard donated $55,000 for enlarging the building, adding equipment and new furnishings. The J.W. Packard Reading Room now houses the Law Library Collection. 

The public library moved to its present Mahoning Avenue location in 1971 and Trumbull County acquired the High Street site in July, 1972 for $80,000. Initially, the Trumbull County Board of Education and a Juvenile Center were housed in the building. Later, the 11th District Court of Appeals occupied the building. 

THE LAW LIBRARY

In June, 1899, the Trumbull County Law Library Association was organized as a non-profit corporation by Common Pleas Judge T.I. Gillmer, and lawyers Homer E. Stewart, E. E. Roberts, J. L. Herzog, and Washington Hyde. 

Mr. Stewart was elected the first president of the Association and LuLu E. Mackey was employed as the first librarian. A membership drive was undertaken and with almost $1,000 in their treasury, the Association bought a $40 bookcase and allocated $870 for the purchase of books. 

The Law Library was located on the third floor of the courthouse. By 1911, the growing library of about 3,000 volumes occupied two rooms. In 1915, a catalog system was instituted for the collection. 

In 1965, a discussion of moving the Law Library to the first floor of the courthouse was under way. The move to the first floor east rooms was completed in 1968. The first full-time staffing for the library occurred in 1976. The library collection now contains about 32,000 hardbound books and 50,000 microfiche and ultrafiche. 

In 1994, County Commissioners Angelo, Magee, and O'Brien authorized the renovation of the old Warren Library building for housing the Law Library and other county operations. The architects were van Dijk, Pace, Westlake & Partners of Cleveland, and the Jack Gibson Construction Company of Warren was awarded the contract for this restoration project. 

The move to the Carnegie Law Library was accomplished on April 15, 1996. The 1997 officers and trustees of the Trumbull County Law Library Association are Randil J. Rudloff, president; James A. Fredericka, vice president; Kevin P. Murphy, secretary-treasurer; William G. Cauffield; and Judge Donald R. Ford. Karin McKinney is the interim director of the library.

Warren, OH Golf Courses

Duck Creek Golf Club, Inc, Duck Course

  18 holes over 5,826 yards with a par of 70 (Public) 

3351 Newton Tomlinson Rd SW

Warren, OH 44481-9218

(330) 872-3825 

4 miles from the center of Warren. 

Trumbull Country Club, Trumbull Course

  18 holes over 6,304 yards with a par of 70 (Private Equity) 

600 Golf Dr NE

Warren, OH 44483-6399

(330) 372-5127 

5 miles from the center of Warren. 

Cranberry Hills Golf Course, Cranberry Hills Course

  9 holes over 2,890 yards with a par of 36 (Public) 

4891 Clovercrest Dr NW

Warren, OH 44483-1701

(330) 847-2884 

5 miles from the center of Warren. 

Northwood Golf Club, Northwood Course

  9 holes over 3,234 yards with a par of 36 (Public) 

635 Champion Ave E

Warren, OH 44483-1508

(330) 847-7608 

5 miles from the center of Warren. 

P & J Par 3 Golf Course, P & J Course

  9 holes with a par of 27 (Public) 

6349 Mahoning Ave NW

Warren, OH 44481-9466

7 miles from the center of Warren. 

Old Avalon Golf Course, Avalon Course

  18 holes over 6,224 yards with a par of 71 (Municipal) 

9794 E Market St

Warren, OH 44484-5508

(330) 856-4329 

8 miles from the center of Warren. 

Avalon Lakes Golf, Inc., Avalon Lakes Course

   Awards  18 holes over 7,001 yards with a par of 72 (Public) 

1 American Way NE

Warren, OH 44484-5531

(330) 856-8898 

8 miles from the center of Warren.

Warren, Ohio

by Leanne Turner

Origins

In 1798, Richard Storer and Ephriam Quinby selected a site for Warren, "situated on the Mahoning River at a point where the level land of the Western Reserve stretches out for miles in every direction." Named for Moses Warren, who was a member of the original Connecticut Land Planning Co., Warren became the seat of justice for the entire Western Reserve as well as the seat of Trumbull County. This position set the stage for Warren's development as a place known for beauty, culture and 'political prestige'. 

From its origins, Warren was oriented toward the Mahoning River. In fact, no other Mahoning Valley town square faces the river. Initially, the lawn at Courthouse Square ran uninterrupted to the riverbank. When the original Courthouse was constructed in 1815, the trees around were chopped down, but citizens graded the land and replanted the trees. Even now, the walkways at Courthouse Square are tree-lined and the banks of the Mahoning River boast a healthy 'riparian zone.'

Growth

In 1802, the Mahoning River was dammed and the first gristmills were completed. The next year was a busy one; the first school was built, the first church was organized, and two hotels were constructed. Within 10 years, the first bank was incorporated, a newspaper had begun and a courthouse was erected. When the Pennsylvania and Ohio Canal opened, Warren became a port. Warren continued to grow with the arrival of the Erie Railroad in 1855. Still, there were difficult times. Fires struck Warren -- hard.

First, in 1846, a fire consumed 22 buildings; then, in 1860, a fire destroyed 75 buildings. Two other fires had even more far-reaching consequences. The county courthouse burned in 1895 and the city hall burned in 1916. These fires not only consumed the buildings but destroyed many historical documents of both the City of Warren and the Western Reserve.

Nevertheless, the heritage of downtown Warren survived. (Read more about the fires of the county courthouse and city hall.)

During the industrial revolution, Warren stayed the course of its historical roots while other downtown areas morphed into industrial centers. This pace angered some townspeople and satisfied others. The Board of Trade was founded in 1905. Its mission was to 'sell' Warren, an action that opponents were fearful would ruin the city's beauty and charm. The 'Sell Warren' campaign worked. Early manufacturing included the Packard & Co. Iron Works. (The Packard Family was soon to be known for its motor cars - some of which can be seen today in the National Packard Museum on Mahoning Avenue.) In 1913, the founding of the Trumbull Steel Company began a period of substantial growth. By 1925, Warren was the second largest manufacturer of electric lamps in the world. Warren developed a diversified industrial base, producing iron and steel, electrical products, drinking fountains, cars, and furniture. 

Education and culture were important in this, the county seat. Warren had a strong public school system. Music was important, too. Like many towns in the late 1800s, Warren had its own opera house, a downtown landmark on the square that was razed in 1968. There were also "singing schools" that were administered by itinerant music teachers. This system was replaced by the Dana Musical Institute; now called the Dana School of Music, it is a renowned part of YSU. The music tradition in Warren continued with the Kenley Players summer stock theatre, the Packard Band, and other performing groups. 

Change

By the middle of the twentieth century, the automobile was "the" form of transportation. The rails gave way to the roads. The roads expanded to highways. The downtown gave way to the mall and the 'strip' in Niles. The urban renewal programs razed whole streets; the area called The Flats" was gone.

In the 1980s, an ambitious program to revitalize the downtown and restore the historic character was undertaken. Thirteen buildings on Courthouse Square were renovated and old Victorian homes were maintained. Now, many structures are listed on the National Register of Historic Places. By 1991, $19 million of public and private funding had been spent on the restoration of downtown Warren buildings. As one observer noted, "Warren retains the flavor of a small town, a community of neighborhoods...." The history is present in its buildings, parks and river. They also provide for its future.

Current

Warren has plans to enhance the riverfront experience. These plans include the further development of the RiverWalk, the Stephen Foster Promenade, Dana Outdoor Theatre and Biggers Outdoor Stage. This will give Warren a large civic space on the waterfront and reflects its heritage as a city that fosters music and performing arts. Other plans are being carried out to revitalize this river town. On the square, historic buildings are maintained and parking is accessible in a new garage behind the Market Street buildings. The theme "spend a day in yesterday, today" encourages people to enjoy the civic history and natural beauty of Warren.

Maintaining industry has been a struggle for Warren as it has been for many other towns along the Mahoning River. Just to the north and south of the 'city limits' are factories on the river that tell the story of the struggle. North, in Champion and Warren Townships, sets the site of CSC (formerly Copperweld.) A now defunct steel mill, the efforts to keep this plant open were in the news for months before its ultimate demise; it is now a Brownfield.

South of the city in Howland and Warren Townships is the only fully functioning steel mill in the Mahoning Valley: WCI, the former LTV plant (and prior to that, Republic Steel plant.) South of this plant on the west side of the river is the 'Warren Coke Plant' - also a former LTV/Republic Plant. It was sold/not sold and then cold-idled and re-opened recently. Now its name is International Steel Group (ISG.) It may re-hire about 70% of the workforce that was let go. These two plants are in full operation and require regular inspections by the EPA. 

Across the Mahoning River from the Coke plant there is another potential Brownfield: the federal government's Warren Depot. This is a stockpile of toxic chemicals located just within the border of Weathersfield Township. This site contains about 621 tons of mercury, a toxic metal. (The Pentagon stockpiled this material for use in defense applications. In the early 1990s, the DNSC - Defense National Stockpile Center - noticed leaks in the storage containers in the Warren Depot. While this has been contained, and is inspected weekly, the government is studying the potential for removal and consolidation at another site.) The Warren Depot is a 160-acre site that stores about 28 chemicals in 7 warehouses. It is on the Mahoning River.

Potential

As the City of Warren proceeds with its waterfront plans, the RiverWalk will extend from the downtown north to join the Western Reserve Greenway. The old power plant has been razed and the Brownfield it left behind will be developed. Now called "Mahoningside," plans exist for a leisure center that will house a restaurant with an outdoor riverside café and shops with parking and other amenities for walkers, biker riders, and boaters. (This site is located at the halfway mark from the initiation of the RiverWalk to Packard Park and is the site of the Summit Street dam - which, hopefully, will be removed during the river cleanup.)

The next phase of revitalization along the Mahoning River, downtown, includes the restoration of the historic Kinsman House, a task that encompasses three buildings, including the replication of the carriage house that burned recently. Eventually, it is hoped that the Kinsman site will house an educational center, museum, gift shop, public 'facilities', and a café. This will complement the new RiverWalk and civic space on the adjacent grounds. To attract visitors, Warren has invited "Trolleyville" service of Cleveland to come to Warren and chauffeur its guests from site-to-site. This accommodation adds some fun and information to the tour of the city.

Says Mayor Angelo, "We strive for balance between history and naturalistic development. That keeps us honest; it preserves our natural and historic treasures and our economic interests as well." About the value of the river cleanup he said, "While there have been some business queries about the potential of the river restoration, it's mostly a quality of life issue here."

More To Do

Basketball, volleyball and horseshoe courts are offered in the campground, along with a playground area for youngsters. 

The camp office loans games and sports equipment to registered campers. 

Playground equipment is also available in day-use areas of the park. 

Nature of the Area

Before Ohio was settled, the banks of Mosquito Creek were hidden by a vast forest that covered most of the state. Little remains of the ancient forest that stood for nearly 10,000 years. In the Mosquito Lake area, regrowth has occurred and the nice stands of beech-maple woodlands can be enjoyed. In pioneer times, the beech-maple belt was very extensive and stretched from Mansfield to Pennsylvania. The reason is that this area has more cloudy days, cooler summer temperatures and more winter snow cover as compared to the rest of Ohio.

The park's woodlands support colonies of spring beauties, anemones, Dutchman's breeches, purple cresses and other spring wildflowers. Goldenrod and asters will bloom in the fall in the park's open areas. Many wildlife species find the park's varied habitats suitable. Red fox, woodchuck, muskrat, beaver, fox squirrel, raccoon, rabbit and white-tailed deer are common. Recently, river otters were reintroduced in nearby favorable locations. Several otter families have been sighted.

Many birds live in or migrate through the area including robins, warblers, swallows and sparrows. The yellow-bellied sapsucker and hairy woodpecker are uncommon in other parts of Ohio but abundant in this part of the state. Numerous species of waterfowl and shorebirds take advantage of the park's many wetlands during spring and fall migrations. Canada geese, herons, tundra swans, great egrets and a variety of ducks can be observed. Large predatory birds including several species of hawks and the magnificent bald and golden eagles have been spotted here.

History of the Area

Mosquito Lake State Park lies in Bazetta and Mecca townships in the center of Trumbull County. In 1795, the Connecticut Land Company offered for sale a 17,247-acre tract of land named Bazetta Township. This large tract of land was divided into 100 parcels and offered for sale to the early pioneers. The first settlers arrived in the township in 1805. The area was wilderness, and their first tasks were to clear the land, plant crops, build a log house and a stockade for their animals. Deer, turkey, rabbit and squirrel were plentiful. So were bears and wolves. By 1812, most Indians had left the area.

Samuel Bacon moved to Bazetta Township in 1816. The Bacon family operated a sawmill from 1816 to 1850. Samueal Bacon erected some of the first frame buildings, developing stores in the community. Thus, the area now named Cortland was locally called Baconsburg.

The village of Cortland became a reality in 1874 when the first railroad was built with a depot in Cortland. By 1882, the population of the village rose to 614 people. There were three churches, two newspapers, stores, mills and other enterprises.

Agriculture was the first and foremost industry in the area. Most other industries were farm related: feed and flour mill, cheese, dairy and canning factories, mercantiles and lumberyards.

In 1930's, plans were drawn up to dam the Mosquito Creek under the Federal Flood Control Act to alleviate floods on the Mahoning, Beaver and Ohio rivers. The dam would also provide domestic water supply for the city of Warren and pollution abatement as a result of the industrialized steel production along the Mahoning River. Completed in April 1944, the dam's capacity held 34 billion gallons of water covering 7,850 acres of land. In 1946. the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers entered into an agreement with the Ohio Department of Natural Resources to manage the recreation on the lake.

Area Attractions

